



GARVILLE NETBALL CLUB CONSTITUTION

OFFICIAL RULES OF GARVILLE NETBALL CLUB INCORPORATED



Garville Netball Club Incorporated Constitution

(approved 23 September 2019 superseding all previous versions)

1. Name

1.1 The name of the Club is 'Garville Netball Club Incorporated', referred to in this Constitution as 'the Club'.

1.2 The Board may resolve from time to time that the name of a sponsor name may be appended to or used in conjunction with the name of the Club.

2. Interpretation

'**Board**' means the board of management of the Club.

'**Constitution**' means the rules and constitution of Garville Netball Club Incorporated as comprised in this document.

'**general meeting**' means a general meeting of members of the association convened in accordance with this Constitution.

'**Member**' means a member of the Club.

'**month**' means a calendar month.

'**Member Representative**' means:

(a) in respect of a Junior Member, a parent or legal guardian of the Junior Member acting as the representative of the Junior Member,

(b) in respect of an Organisation Member, the person appointed to act as the representative of the Organisation Member,

for the purposes of a general meeting.

'**Premier League**' means the Premier League competition or highest grade or division of netball played by females under the organisation of the State Governing Body.

'**regulations**' means any regulations made by the Board under clause 8.6.

'**special resolution**' means a special resolution as defined in the Act.

'**State Governing Body**' means South Australian Netball Association Inc, trading as Netball SA, or any successor organisation.

'**the Act**' means the *Associations Incorporation Act 1985 (SA)*.

'**year**' means a calendar year.

Headings and notes are for assistance only and do not affect interpretation of this Constitution.



3. **Affiliation**

The Club shall be an affiliated member of the State Governing Body, and accepts the objects and requirements of the State Governing Body.

4. **Objects**

The objects and purposes of the Club shall be:

- 4.1 to promote and encourage Members to play netball;
- 4.2 to encourage and develop the sport of netball in the general community;
- 4.3 to compete in Premier League and other netball competitions;
- 4.4 to promote good fellowship, enjoyment, co-operation, teamwork and fair play;
- 4.5 to encourage and develop players, coaches and umpires to achieve a high level of competition or accreditation; and
- 4.6 to provide coaching, training, skills development and general facilities to assist in the fulfilment of the above objectives.

5. **Powers of the Club**

In addition to all of the powers conferred by section 25 of the Act, the Club shall have the powers of a natural person, and may exercise those powers in any way it considers conducive to the furtherance of the objects and purposes of the Club.

6. **Prohibition against securing profits for Members**

The income and capital of the Club shall be applied exclusively to the promotion of its objects and no portion shall be paid or distributed directly or indirectly to Members or their associates except as bona fide remuneration of a member for services rendered or expenses incurred on behalf of the association.

Note: Section 55 of the Act prohibits securing profits for Members.

7. **Membership**

Types of Members

- 7.1 The Club shall have four types of Members:
 - 7.1.1 Adult Members,
 - 7.1.2 Junior Members,
 - 7.1.3 Life Members, and
 - 7.1.4 Organisation Members.



Adult Members

- 7.2 A person is an Adult Member if she or he meets all of the following requirements:
- 7.2.1 is 18 years of age or older;
 - 7.2.2 has paid the prescribed fee, or entered into an arrangement with the Club to pay the prescribed fee;
 - 7.2.3 plays for the Club, or coaches for the Club, or manages a netball team for or on behalf of the Club, or umpires for or on behalf of the Club, or meets any other criteria set by the Board; and
 - 7.2.4 agrees to support the objects of the Club.
- 7.3 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Constitution, a member of the Board is deemed to be an Adult Member.
- 7.4 An Adult Member is entitled to one vote in a general meeting.

Junior Members

- 7.5 A person is a Junior Member if she or he meets all of the following requirements:
- 7.5.1 is 17 years of age or younger;
 - 7.5.2 has paid the prescribed fee, or entered into an arrangement with the Club to pay the prescribed; and
 - 7.5.3 plays for the Club, or coaches for the Club, or manages a netball team for or on behalf of the Club, or umpires for or on behalf of the Club.
- 7.6 A Junior Member is entitled to one vote in a general meeting.
- 7.7 The vote of a Junior Member may be exercised:
- 7.7.1 if the Junior Member is 16 years of age or older, by the Junior member herself or himself; or
 - 7.7.2 in any case, by a Member Representative in lieu of the Junior Member.
- 7.8 No Junior Member may have more than one Member Representative at a general meeting. No person may act as the Member Representative of more than one Junior Member at a general meeting.

Note: This Constitution provides that responsible Junior Members may vote on their own behalf, but votes can also be exercised by a parent or guardian, subject to limits. In effect, only one parent or guardian may represent each Junior Member, and one person may not represent more than one Junior Member.

Life Members

- 7.9 A person is a Life Member if she or he has, on the nomination of the Board, been elected to that position at the annual general meeting. A Life Member holds her or his position



for life, unless membership ends by resignation in writing or expulsion under the Constitution.

- 7.10 A Life Member is entitled to the rights and privileges of an Adult Member without the payment of any fee, together with such other rights or privileges as the Board may resolve from time to time. If the Life Member is active in the Club as a player, coach, umpire, manager or member of the Board, the Club may, in its discretion, pay all or part of any applicable registration fee with the State Governing Body.
- 7.11 A Life Member is entitled to one vote in a general meeting.
- 7.12 The Board may nominate a person for election as a Life Member if the person has:
 - 7.12.1 played 100 netball matches for the Club in Premier League or equivalent competition; or
 - 7.12.2 played netball for the Club for 10 years in senior grades or alternatively 15 years in any grades; or
 - 7.12.3 rendered meritorious service to the Club as a player, coach, umpire, manager or member of the Board.
- 7.13 The Board may, in its discretion, nominate up to two persons each year to become Life Members.
- 7.14 Nominees for the position of Life Member will be considered by the Club at the annual general meeting and, if approved by a majority of the Members present in person or by proxy, will be elected a Life Member.

Organisation Members

- 7.15 A body corporate or registered business or entity is an Organisation Member if it has applied in writing for membership, agrees to support the objects of the Club, paid the prescribed fee, and has been accepted as a Member by a majority vote of the Board or of a general meeting.
- 7.16 An Organisation Member is entitled to one vote in a general meeting.
- 7.17 An Organisation Member may appoint in writing a Member Representative who may speak and vote on its behalf, and the Organisation Member may revoke such an appointment.

Subscriptions

- 7.18 The subscription fees for each type of Member shall be such sum, if any, as the Board may determine.
- 7.19 The subscription fees shall be payable annually on 1 November or at a time that the Board determines. Additional fees, determined by the Board, may apply as a prerequisite to being permitted to compete in any competition season.
- 7.20 The neglect of a Member to pay the applicable subscription fee or additional fee may, at the discretion of the Board, deprive them of the privileges of membership and the



player may be ineligible to play for the Club or any other affiliated member of the State Governing Body while the fee remains unpaid.

- 7.21 Any Member whose subscription is outstanding for more than three months after the due date for Payment shall cease to be a Member, provided always that the Board may reinstate such a person's membership on such terms as it thinks fit.
- 7.22 The Board may waive, vary or defer all or any part of the subscription fees of a Member in its discretion, and on such terms as it sees fit.

Expulsion of a member

- 7.23 Subject to giving a Member an opportunity to be heard or to make a written submission, the Board may resolve to expel a member upon a charge of misconduct detrimental to the interests of the Club.
- 7.24 Particulars of the charge shall be communicated to the Member at least one month before the meeting of the Board at which the matter will be determined.
- 7.25 The determination of the Board shall be communicated to the Member, and in the event of an adverse determination the Member shall, (subject to clause 7.27 below), cease to be a member 14 days after the Board has communicated its determination to the Member.
- 7.26 It shall be open to a Member to appeal the expulsion to the Club at a general meeting. The intention to appeal shall be communicated to the secretary or public officer of the Club within 14 days after the determination of the committee has been communicated to the Member.
- 7.27 In the event of an appeal under clause 7.26:
 - 7.27.1 the Board may call a special general meeting or defer the appeal to the next annual general meeting; and
 - 7.27.2 the appellant's membership of the association shall not be terminated unless the determination of the Board to expel the Member is upheld by the Members of the Club in general meeting after the appellant has been heard by the Members of the Club, and in that event membership will be terminated at the date of the general meeting at which the determination of the Board is upheld.

Register of members

- 7.28 A register of Members must be kept and contain:
 - 7.28.1 the name and address of each Member,
 - 7.28.2 the date of birth of each Junior Member,
 - 7.28.3 the date on which each Member was admitted to the Club, and
 - 7.28.4 if applicable, the date of and reasons for expulsion of a Member from the Club.



7.29 The register of Members may be maintained in electronic form using the approved software system of the State Governing Body.

8. **Board of management**

Powers and duties

- 8.1 Subject to any more specific provision of this Constitution, the affairs of the Club shall be managed and controlled by a Board which, in addition to any powers and authorities conferred by the Constitution, may exercise all such powers and do all such things as are within the objects of the Club, and are not by the Act or by this Constitution required to be done by the Club in general meeting.
- 8.2 The Board must implement and apply any resolution of the Club in general meeting.
- 8.3 The Board has the management and control of the funds and other property of the Club.
- 8.4 The Board may form committees and delegate to the committees any powers or duties as it deems necessary for the efficient organisation of Club affairs. Each committee shall include a member of the Board, and other members of the committee may be appointed by the Board from amongst the Members. Each committee will report its activities to the Board as directed by the Board.
- 8.5 The Board shall appoint a public officer as required by the Act, and in the absence of an alternative appointment, the Secretary shall be the public officer.

Note: Notice of appointment and any change in the identity or address of the public officer are to be lodged within one month after the change with: Consumer and Business Services, Chesser House, 91-97 Grenfell Street, Adelaide 5000; postal address: GPO Box 1719, Adelaide 5001.

Regulations

Note: The Regulations are the key 'delegated legislation' of the Club (sometimes referred to as by-laws). These are key rule and policy documents, which can address a whole range of issues for a Club. These include disciplinary regulations, election procedures, policies including member protection and anti-doping (subject to the Club and NSO requirements), financial management and particular sporting matters.

- 8.6 The Board may formulate, issue, adopt, interpret and amend such Regulations for the proper advancement, management and administration of the Club and the advancement of the objects of the Club as it thinks necessary or desirable. Such regulations must be consistent with the Constitution and the constitution of the State Governing Body (and any regulations made by it).
- 8.7 The Regulations are binding on the Club and its Members.
- 8.8 Amendments, alterations, interpretations or other changes to Regulations shall be advised to Members by means of bulletins approved by the Board and prepared and issued by the Secretary.

Composition and appointment

- 8.9 The Board shall include the following elected Directors, who must be natural persons 18 years of age or older:



- 8.9.1 President,
 - 8.9.2 Vice President,
 - 8.9.3 Secretary,
 - 8.9.4 Treasurer, and
 - 8.9.5 up to four general Directors.
- 8.10 The Board may appoint a Head Coach who shall be *ex officio* a member of the Board, with the same rights and privileges as a general Director.
- 8.11 The President or the President's delegate will represent the Club at meetings or proceedings of the State Governing Body.
- 8.12 The elected Directors are to be elected at the annual general meeting.
- 8.13 Elected Directors are to be elected for terms, as follows:
- 8.13.1 the positions of President and Secretary are to be elected in odd-numbered years and serve for two years, and
 - 8.13.2 the positions of Vice President and Treasurer are to be elected in even-numbered years and serve for two years;
 - 8.13.3 the positions of one-half of the number of general Directors are elected in odd-numbered years and serve for two years;
 - 8.13.4 the positions of the other half of the number of general Directors are elected in even-numbered years and serve for two years; and
 - 8.13.5 in the case of the first election after the adoption of this rule, the general Directors will draw lots to determine which of them will serve for two years and which of them will serve for one, after which time elections will be in accordance with clauses 8.13.3 and .
- Note: The intention is that each general Director will serve for two years from election. If a casual vacancy occurs in the first years of a two-year term, the position is declared vacant at the next AGM, but the election is only for the unexpired portion of the original term, so that in future half of the number of general Directors will continue to be elected at each AGM.*
- 8.14 A retiring elected Director shall be eligible to nominate herself or himself and to stand for re-election. No other person shall be eligible to stand for election unless nominated by a Member of the Club other than the nominee.
- Note: Each director, if seeking re-election, must nominate. A director can nominate herself or himself, and need not be nominated by another Member. Any non-Director must be nominated by another Member and cannot nominate herself or himself.*
- 8.15 A person who is not a Member may be nominated for election and may be elected to the Board.



- 8.16 All nominations must be in writing and delivered to the Secretary not less than 14 days before the annual general meeting at which the election is to take place by. The nomination shall be in a form prescribed by the Board and shall be signed by the nominator, if required, and by the nominee.
- 8.17 If no nomination for an elected office has been received by the time specified in clause 8.14, nominations for that elected office may be accepted from the floor at the annual general meeting in accordance with the ordinary process for motions at a general meeting.
- 8.18 The Board may appoint a person to fill a casual vacancy of an elected office, and such a Director shall hold office until the next annual general meeting of the Club and shall be eligible for election to the Board. If a person is appointed to fill a casual vacancy of a position with a two year term, the position must be declared vacant and subject to election at the next annual general meeting, after which subsequent elections for that position will proceed in accordance with clause 8.13.
- 8.19 In addition to the elected Directors, the Board may appoint up to two auxiliary Directors on such terms as it sees fit for a fixed period of up to two years. An auxiliary Director will have the same rights and privileges as a general Director.

Note: The Board shall have the ability to fill roles with specialist skills, even if there is no casual vacancy. The Board is not obliged to appoint auxiliary Directors.

- 8.20 No person is eligible to be elected or appointed to the Board if that person is the parent, legal guardian, child, sibling or spouse of person who is a member of the Board at the time of the election or appointment.

Note: The intention of this clause is to prevent more than one member of the same immediate family being a member of the Board at any one time.

Proceedings of the Board

- 8.21 The Board shall meet not less than once every two months, and not less than once every month between the months of March and September, inclusive.
- 8.22 The President or any two members of the Board may summon additional meetings of the Board on not less than 48 hours' notice.
- 8.23 The President shall act as Chair at any meeting of the Board. In the absence of the President, the elected office holders shall act as Chair in the following order of precedence: Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer.
- 8.24 Meetings of the Board may be held in person, or with the aid of technological means including telephone or video, at the discretion of the Chair.
- 8.25 A quorum for a meeting of the Board shall be one half of the members of the Board, and must include at least two of the following elected Directors: President, Vice President, Secretary and Treasurer.
- 8.26 If the Chair believes, on reasonable grounds, that a quorum will not be achieved at any meeting of the Board, the Chair may adjourn the meeting to a new date and time.



- 8.27 Motions arising at any meeting of the Board shall be decided by a majority of votes, and in the event of equality of votes the Chair shall have a casting vote in addition to a deliberative vote.
- 8.28 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Constitution, any motion of the Board that the Club raise loans, other than on interest-free terms, shall require the approval of both a majority of votes of the members of the whole Board, and the approval of not less than three of the President, Vice President, Secretary and Treasurer.
- 8.29 A Director having a direct or indirect pecuniary interest in a contract or proposed contract with the Club must disclose the nature and extent of that interest to the Board as required by the Act, and shall not vote with respect to that contract or proposed contract. The member of the Board must disclose the nature and extent of her or his interest in the contract at the next annual general meeting.
- 8.30 The Board may pass a resolution without a meeting by written agreement of a majority of the Directors for the time being.
- 8.31 The Secretary shall keep minutes of all resolutions and proceedings.
- 8.32 The proceedings of the Board shall not be invalidated by any vacancy or vacancies amongst the Board or by reason of any defect which may afterwards be discovered in the appointment or election.

Disqualification of Directors

- 8.33 The office of a Director shall become vacant if a Board member is:
- 8.33.1 disqualified from being a Director by the Act,
 - 8.33.2 expelled as a Member under this Constitution,
 - 8.33.3 permanently incapacitated, or
 - 8.33.4 absent without apology from more than four meetings in a year.

9. General meetings

Annual general meetings

- 9.1 The Board shall call an annual general meeting in accordance with the Act and this Constitution.
- 9.2 The next annual general meeting after the adoption of the Constitution will be held within five months after the end of the financial year of the Club, notwithstanding that more than 12 months may elapse since the previous annual general meeting. Thereafter, the annual general meeting will be held within five months after the end of each succeeding financial year of the Club.
- 9.3 The following shall be the order of business at all annual general meetings:
- 9.3.1 confirmation of the minutes of the previous annual general meeting and of any special general meetings held since that date,



- 9.3.2 the presentation and consideration of the accounts and the reports of the President, Treasurer, Auditor and Head Coach,
- 9.3.3 the election of Directors,
- 9.3.4 the election of Life Members, and
- 9.3.5 any other business required to be considered by the Club in general meeting.

Special general meetings

- 9.4 The Board may call a special general meeting at any time.
- 9.5 Upon written requisition received by the Secretary from at least 10 Members, the Board shall within one month call a general meeting for the purpose specified in the requisition, and for any other purpose the Board considers fit. Every requisition for a special general meeting shall be signed by the requisitioning Members and shall state the purpose of the special general meeting.
- 9.6 If a special general meeting is not called within one month, as required by clause 9.5, the requisitioning Members, or at least 50 percent of their number, may convene a special general meeting. Such a meeting shall be convened in the same manner as nearly as practical as a meeting convened by the Board, and for this purpose the Board shall ensure that the requisitioning Members are supplied free of charge with particulars of the Members entitled to receive a notice of meeting. The reasonable expenses of convening and conducting such a meeting shall be borne by the Club.

Notice of general meetings

- 9.7 At least 21 days' notice of any general meeting shall be given to Members by circular. The notice shall set out where and when the meeting will be held, and particulars of the nature and order of the business to be transacted at the meeting.
- 9.8 Where a question requiring a special resolution is to be considered at a general meeting, the terms of the resolution shall be provided with the notice of meeting.
- 9.9 Any Member entitled to vote may submit a notice of motion for inclusion as special business at the annual general meeting. All notices of motion must be submitted in writing to the Secretary not less than 14 days prior to the general meeting.
- 9.10 Notice of the particulars of all business to be transacted at the general meeting, including the names of persons nominated for election to the Board, shall be given to all Members not less than seven days before the annual general meeting at which the election is to take place, together with instructions to members as to appointment of proxies, where applicable.
- 9.11 A notice may be given by the Club to any Member by serving the Member with the notice personally, or by sending it by post to the address appearing in the register of Members, or by sending it by electronic mail or similar service to the electronic address appearing in the register of Members or provided by the Member for that purpose.
- 9.12 Notice will be deemed to be received:



- 9.12.1 if sent by post, on the second business day after being posted; and
- 9.12.2 if sent by electronic means, on the day it is sent.

9.13 Inadvertent omission to give notice to a Member shall not invalidate the meeting.

Note: The Constitution provides the following timetable for notices:

21 days – notice of meeting (and description of business for SGM). Club to provide proforma for nominations and notices of motion for special business, instructions and proformas regarding proxies.

14 days – nominations received (AGM only)

14 days – any notices of motion for special business (AGM only)

7 days – nomination details circulated to members (AGM only). Club to provide proforma for proxies.

At the meeting – proxies received

10. **Proceedings at general meetings**

10.1 Fifteen Members present personally or by proxy shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any general meeting of the Club.

10.2 A Member may be represented in person or by proxy at such meeting, provided that a person must not act as a proxy for more than one Member.

Note: The intention of this clause is to minimise the concentration of voting power in any one person. Members remain free to exercise their voting rights in person or by proxy (subject to this limitation).

10.3 If within 30 minutes after the time appointed for the general meeting a quorum of Members is not present, a meeting convened upon the requisition of members shall lapse. In any other case, the meeting shall stand adjourned to the same day in the next week, at the same time and place and if at such adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within 30 minutes of the time appointed for the meeting, the members present in person or by proxy shall form a quorum.

10.4 If a quorum of members is present the Secretary will record in the Minute Book:

10.4.1 the names of the Members present personally,

10.4.2 the name of Member Representatives present personally, and

10.4.3 the names of Members represented by proxy, and the name of each respective proxy.

10.5 In absence of a quorum the Secretary shall make a note to that effect in the Minute Book.

10.6 The President, or in her or his absence, the Vice President, shall preside as Chair at a general meeting of the Club. If the President and Vice President are not present within five minutes after the time appointed for holding the general meeting, or she or he is present but declines to take or retires from the Chair, the Members present may choose a Director or one of their own number to be the Chair of that meeting.

10.7 No person may preside as Chair at a general meeting during consideration of:



- 10.7.1 any election for which that person is a nominee, or
- 10.7.2 any business in which the person has a conflict of interest.

Voting

- 10.8 Subject to clause 10.14, every Member may exercise only one vote at a general meeting, to be in accordance with the rights pertaining to her, his or its membership.

Note: In effect, no person can ever exercise more than two votes: one vote per person, and up to one additional vote as proxy. For example, an Adult Member may not exercise a vote on her or his own behalf and also exercise a second vote as Member Representative for a Junior Member. However, a Junior Member may appoint an Adult Member as proxy. A person entitled to membership in more than one class or capacity is only entitled to only one vote.

- 10.9 Subject to any contrary provision of the Constitution, a question for decision at a general meeting, other than a special resolution, must be determined by a majority of votes cast at that general meeting.
- 10.10 Voting for the election of Directors shall be by way of a secret ballot. Voting papers shall be destroyed after the results of the ballot have been announced.
- 10.11 For the election of general Directors, if the number of nominations received is equal to the number of vacancies to be filled or if there are insufficient nominations received to fill all vacancies, then those nominated shall be declared elected only if approved by the majority of votes cast.
- 10.12 Voting on a question other than the election of Directors may be by show of hands unless a Member present in person demands that the voting be by way of a secret ballot, in which case voting on that question will be by way of a secret ballot. Voting papers shall be destroyed after the results of the ballot have been announced.
- 10.13 In the event of an equality of votes on a matter, the Chair shall have a casting vote in addition to a deliberative vote.

Proxies

- 10.14 Subject to the Constitution, a Member, or a person acting as a Member Representative, may appoint in writing a natural person who is also a Member or a person acting as the Member Representative of a Member, to be their proxy, and to attend and vote at any general meeting.
- 10.15 No proxy will be valid unless the appointment:
 - 10.15.1 is recorded in writing,
 - 10.15.2 identifies the proxy by name,
 - 10.15.3 identifies by name the Member appointing the proxy,
 - 10.15.4 is signed by the Member, or a person acting as the Member Representative of the Member, appointing the proxy,



- 10.15.5 is handed to the Chair of the general meeting at the commencement of the meeting, or as soon as practicable after that time, and is initialled by the Chair as being a valid proxy.
- 10.16 A proxy accepted and initialled by the Chair shall be deemed to be valid for all purposes.
- 10.17 The details of the appointment of each valid proxy must be recorded in the minutes of the general meeting.

11. **Minutes**

- 11.1 Proper minutes of all proceedings of general meetings of the Club and of meetings of the Board, shall be entered within one month after the relevant meeting in minute books kept for the purpose.
- 11.2 The minutes kept pursuant to this rule must be confirmed by the Members of the Club or the members of the Board, as the case may be, at a subsequent meeting.
- 11.3 The minutes kept pursuant to this rule shall be signed by the Chair of the meeting at which the proceedings took place or by the Chair of the next succeeding meeting at which the minutes are confirmed.
- 11.4 Where minutes are entered and signed they shall, until the contrary is proved, be evidence that the meeting was convened and duly held, that all proceedings held at the meeting shall be deemed to have been duly held, and that all appointments made at a meeting shall be deemed to be valid.
- 11.5 The Board shall report to the State Governing Body on the operations of the Club.

12. **Financial reporting**

- 12.1 The financial year of the Club shall be the period of 12 months commencing on 1 September and ending on 31 August of each year.
- 12.2 The Club shall keep and retain such accounting records as are necessary to correctly record and explain the financial transactions and financial position of the Club in accordance with the Act.

Note: Refer to regulation 8 of the Associations Regulations.

- 12.3 An auditor (who is not to be a Member of the Board) shall be appointed at the annual general meeting or at the discretion of the Board.

Note: Refer to sections 35(2)(b) and 35(4) of the Act for qualifications of auditor.

- 12.4 The accounting records will be audited annually.
- 12.5 A statement of financial position, together with any auditor's report, and the report of the Board required by section 35(5) of the Act shall be laid before Members at the annual general meeting.



Note: There is a legislative requirement under section 35(5) of the Act for a report regarding any payments or benefits to any member of the Board. There is a requirement under section 35(6) of the Act for an auditor's report.

13. **Payment of accounts**

All accounts are to be ratified by two members of the Board, and cheques or internet payments authorised by two signatories, at least one of whom must be the President, Vice President, Secretary or Treasurer. The Board may authorise the Treasurer to arrange petty cash or other methods of payment of small value.

14. **Appointment of Head Coach and other positions**

14.1 A Head Coach may be appointed by the Board and shall be accountable directly to the Board for her or his actions.

14.2 All paid positions shall be appointed by the Board and such persons shall be accountable directly to the Board for their actions.

15. **The Constitution**

15.1 No clause of the Constitution shall be altered or repealed, or any new clause adopted except at a general meeting of the Club.

15.2 The Constitution may be altered, including an alteration to the Club's name or replacement of the Constitution, by special resolution of the Members.

15.3 The registered Constitution shall bind the association and every member to the same extent as if they have respectively signed and sealed them, and agreed to be bound by all of the provisions thereof.

15.4 Subject to any provision in the Constitution or a resolution to the contrary, an alteration to the Constitution comes into force at the time that the alteration is passed, unless otherwise provided by the Act.

Note: Any alteration must be registered within one month, section 24(2) of the Act. Any alteration to the name comes into effect only when registered, section 24(7) of the Act.

15.5 A copy of the Constitution shall be provided to the State Governing Body within one month from the time that any alteration is passed.

15.6 Any doubt arising as to the application or meaning of the Constitution shall be decided by the Board whose decision will remain unless and until altered by a resolution of a general meeting.

15.7 If any case occurs which, in the reasonable opinion of the Board, is not provided for in the Constitution, it shall be determined by the Board.

16. **Dissolution of the Club**

16.1 The Club may be dissolved or wound-up by a special resolution.



- 16.2 Upon the winding-up or dissolution of the Club the Board shall proceed to realise the property of the Club and, after the discharge of all liabilities, shall transfer any surplus funds and property to the State Governing Body or, if that is not possible, to any organisation which has similar objects and has rules which prohibit the distribution of its assets and income to its members.

Note: Section 43 of the Act prohibits the distribution of surplus assets at the completion of a winding up to Members or former Members, or associates of those persons.